FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/21/2022 2:17 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101107-5

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
No. 83417-7-I
COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHAWN SMITH,
Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABORAND INDUSTRIES, Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Carson Law Practice

By: Dave Carson

WSBA No.: 48002

P. Box 1855

Sumner, WA 98390

P: (206) 596-3331

Attorney for Petitioner

A. Introduction

This Court has already granted a petition for review in *Ronald Cordova v. City of Seattle, et al.* under docket number 100605-5 currently ready for Fall 2022. The issues presented in *Cordova* and foundations of logic from the Court of Appeals (Division 1) share the same errors as the Court of Appeals (Division 2) in the present case of *Smith v. STATE, DEP'T OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES, No. 83417-7-I* (Wash. Ct. App. June 21, 2022). Both the *Cordova* Court, and the court in Mr. Smith's case, prejudiced workers by denying of benefits on technicalities.

The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Smith's counsel's written notice of representation for lacking the claimant's signature. As in *Cordova*, the Court of Appeals missed Title 51's starting point: to liberally construe the law on workers compensation with "the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." RCW 51.12.010. Denying a worker's right

under Title 51, including a worker's right to counsel, based on strict adherence is anothema to liberal construction.

This Court should accept review and hold that a claimant's right of counsel may not be denied by the Department of Labor and Industries based on extra legal technicalities when the applicant has made their intent known by way of counsel.

B. Court of Appeals Decision.

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals'

June 21, 2022, decision affirming the trial court's order that affirmed the decision of the Board of Industrial

Insurance Appeals (BIIA) rejecting Mr. Smith's claim for workers' compensation benefits and finding that the Department was not required to provide Mr.

Smith's attorney a copy of its order, such that that order rejecting the claim was deemed 'communicated to the parties' and thereby final and binding.

A. Issue Presented for Review

An order is final and binding when the order is communicated to the parties of interests (RCW 51.52.050(1)).

Is an order final and binding if it was not sent to claimant's representative who filed a notice of representation with the Department when the Department rejected the attorney-client representation because it was not signed by the claimant?

D. Statement of the Case.

In 2016 Carson Law Practice filed a notice of appearance and represented Mr. Smith on claim AZ34855. Mr. Smith filed BB76955 claim on May 27, 2017. In July 2017, still representing Mr. Smith on AZ34855, Carson Law Practice filed a notice of appearance for claim BB76955.

Following the filing of the July 13th, 2017 notice of appearance for claim BB76955, Carson Law Practice had access to claim files including confidential claim information at the Department's Claims and Account Center, and had communicated with the claim

manager¹ about claim BB76955. Following the July 13th, 2017 Notice of Appearance, the Department did not provide any written correspondence to either Carson Law Practice or Mr. Smith that stated it rejected the notice of appearance or the attorney-client relationship. On July 17, 2017 and July 27, 2017, the Department called Carson Law Practice's office regarding claim related matters and including the sufficiency counsel's notice of appearance. No calls were made to Mr. Smith regarding claim BB76955.

On August 11, 2017, the Department's claims

manager issued an order rejecting the BB76955 claim

– that order was not sent to Mr. Smith's counsel

Carson Law Practice.

¹ The Department claims manager, Jeannie Carlson, was assigned to both claims (AZ34855 and BB76955).

E. Reasons the Court Should Accept Review.

1. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) because the Court of Appeals ignored this Court's command that title 51 RCW must be liberally construed to minimize the suffering and economic loss of working families.

Both cases, *Cordova* and *Smith*, examine the Department's responsibility when receiving communications. Citing *Nelson v. Dep't. of Lab. & Indus.*, the Appellant in *Cordova* argued Title 51 their communication should be found sufficient. 9 Wn.2d 621, 629, 115 P.2d 1014 (1941). Because "[a]s long as the writing filed with the department reasonably directs its attention" to the facts then "the statute has been substantially complied with." *Id.* Under *Nelson*, and the cases that follow, liberal construction led to the "substantially compliance" rule whether communications to Department are sufficient.

In *Cordova* the Court of Appeal's (Division 1) requirement for strict adherence was examined under RCW 51.28.020 Workers application for compensation; Here regarding Mr. Smith, the Court of

Appeal's (Division 2) requirement for strict adherence was examined under RCW 51.04.080. Here, the nature of the strict adherence implied by the Court of Appeals is undefined, except that it must be "personal" and be "signed" by the claimant. Infra vide. The Court Appeals concluded that communication cannot come from an attorney in the form of notice of appearance or representation. In doing so, the Court of Appeals goes beyond the statute's plain language and interjects an extra-legal requirement of a claimant's signature in the holding "[t]he plain language of the statute makes clear that, when a claimant desires to have a Department order forwarded to the claimant's representative, the claimant must **personally** convey to the Department a writing **signed** by the claimant that sets forth the representative's name and address." Smith v. STATE, DEP'T OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES, No. 83417-7-I (Wash. Ct. App. June 21, 2022) (emphasis added). But, the plain language of RCW 51.04.080 does not require a claimant's signature.

On all claims under this title, claimants' written notices, orders, or payments must be forwarded directly to the claimant until such time as there has been entered an order on the claim appealable to the board of industrial insurance appeals. Claimants' written notices, orders, or payments may be forwarded to the claimant in care of a representative before an order has been entered if the claimant sets forth in writing the name and address of the representative to whom the claimant desires this information to be forwarded.

Id.

In support that a signature from a worker is required by the Department before acknowledgement of representation, the Court of Appeals relied on *inter alia Mangan v. Lamar*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 93, 96-97, 496 P.3d 1213 (2021) which cited RCW 7.06.050(1), not a Title 51 statute, which included unambiguous language "[t]his notice must be signed by the party." RCW 7.06.050.

The Court of Appeals conclusion that the "legislature is aware that it has the authority to impose a requirement on parties themselves that cannot be satisfied by the party's representative" is not in doubt. *Smith* at 12, Section E. But, the Court of Appeals

conclusion "[t]hat is what occurred in this instance" is in doubt. *Id*. It is not clear that the statute RCW 51.04.080's intended that a claimant must 'personally convey with their signature' before the Department can recognize counsel. The Court of Appeals misconstrued the target of the statute, which is the Department and the Department's duty in "[s]ending notices, order, payments to claimants." RCW 51.04.080.

Title 51 RCW must be "liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/ or death occurring in the course of employment." RCW 51.12.010. Time and time again, this Court has held "the guiding principle in construing provisions of the Industrial Insurance Act is that the Act is remedial in nature and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in favor of the worker." Street v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 399 P.3d 1156, 189 Wash. 2d 187

(2017)(emphasis added); Dennis v. Dept. of Labor and Industries, 745 P.2d 1295, 109 Wash. 2d 467 (1987); Sacred Heart Med. Ctr. v. Carrado, 92 Wn.2d 631, 635, 600 P.2d 1015 (1979); Lightle v. Department of Labor & Indus., 68 Wn.2d 507, 510, 413 P.2d 814 (1966); Wilber v. Department of Labor & Indus., 61 Wn.2d 439, 446, 378 P.2d 684 (1963); State ex rel. Crabb v. Olinger, 196 Wash. 308, 311, 82 P.2d 865 (1938); Gaines v. Department of Labor & Indus., 1 Wn. App. 547, 552, 463 P.2d 269 (1969).

But here, in finding Mr. Smith's attorney's notice of representation was not effective, the Court of Appeals resolved doubts against the worker's interests by harmonizing RCW 51.04.080 with WAC 263-12-020(3)² to deny Mr. Smith representation at a critical

_

² WAC 263-12-020 is a limitation regarding who may appear before the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals, not how or who may represent the worker before the Department of Labor and Industries. WAC 263-12-020(1)("Who may appear? Any party to any appeal may appear before the board..."). The Court of Appeals interpretation of WAC 263-12-020(3) is also not construed to the benefit of the worker.

time following his filing of the claim noting "the requirements and privileges that apply specifically to lawyers do not necessarily apply to nonlawyer representatives" and concluded "the legislature was authorized to impose a requirement that applies equally to all representatives, whether they be lawyers or nonlawyers." *Smith* at 12, Section E.

The Department has a duty to communicate. Failure to communicate renders a Department order not final and binding. Consider, *Shafer v. Dept. of Labor and Industries* where this Court concluded *En Banc* that a closing order was not final in a workers' claim because it was not communicated to the worker's attending physician because "the role the attending physicians" plays in the claims process and the IIA's command to

_

³ Because of liberal construction, the determination that Dr. Cook was Ms. Shafer's attending physician was not made on arcane technicalities without a determination by the Department, but by the facts of the case with the Court noting while Ms. Shafer "visited several medical practitioners for treatment, she was eventually treated by Dr. Elizabeth Cook." Shafer held the Department had duty to communicate with the person the Claimant believed was the leading their care, aka Ms. Shafer's attending physician.

interpret ambiguous portions of the act in favor of injured workers." 213 P.3d 591, 166 Wash. 2d 710 (2009). A claimant's representative also 'plays' a critical role in the claim process, and the IIA's command should equally apply to a claimant's chosen representative as it did in *Shafer* to a claimant chosen physician.

Notwithstanding the Department's duty to accept
Carson Law Practice as Mr. Smith's representative or
the Department's failure to communicate the order
rejecting the BB76955 claim to counsel, the
Department also failed its duty to communicate to Mr.
Smith when it rejected Carson Law Practice to Mr.
Smith.

The right to representation, like all rights under the IIA, should not be denied on procedural technicalities: The Workman's Compensation Law was particularly framed to avoid legal terminology and technicalities of law pleading. *Nelson*, 9 Wn.2d at 629. As argued in *Cordova*, this Court stressed "[t]here is no particular

form of pleading required to give" notice and that "[a]nything filed with [DLI] that challenges its attention, causes it to act, is sufficient" Nelson, 9 Wn.2d at 630. Here, the Court of Appeals interpretation of RCW 51.04.080 placed the burden on workers, not the Department, to provide filings with extra-legal particularities contrary to customs in the practice of law and out-of-step with the over-arching purpose of Title 51 when the simplest interpretation of RCW 51.04.080 reads that the Department must send the claimant copies of all notices, orders, or payment until a representation's information is provided and then it must send that representative copies of those communications.

The Department's has a duty following a receiving communication. In *Cordova* the Department's duty was to inform the worker of her of the benefits under Title 51 RCW and to direct the self-insured employer to provide the worker the correct forms. *Cf.* Here at a minimum the Department had a duty to inform Mr.

Smith when it rejected Carson Law Practice's notice of representation.

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2, 4).

2. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (4) because attorney representation is a threshold aspect of law that affects every worker who seeks counsel, and the Court of Appeals holding on sufficiency of notice for representation is at odds with a body of law from the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals.

The Court of Appeals acknowledged "Smith cites to various authority" including several appellate opinions and the Rules of Professional Conduct (RPC) to support that a notice of appearance filed by attorney is sufficient for the Department to acknowledge the worker's representation, but Court of Appeals rejected all precedents. Smith at 12, Section B, N7.

But, the Court of Appeals decision in *Smith* goes against a body of published decisions4 by the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals regarding the Department's duty to communicate following notice of representation from counsel. See In re Bell & Bell Builders (II), BIIA Dec., 90 5119 (1992) and In re David Herring, BIIA Dec., 57, 831 (1981)(holding a closing order not sent to claimant's attorney was not communicated); In re Sound Dive Center (II), BIIA Dec., 14 12707 (2015)(holding "where an attorney or other representative has appeared before the Department... and expressed desire to receive further communication from the Department regarding the assessment, the Department is obligated to direct all future correspondence to the firm's attorney or

⁴ While administrative decisions are not binding on this court, the Board is a persuasive authority in interpreting the IIA. *O'Keefe v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 126 Wash.App. 760, 766, 109 P.3d 484 (2005), review denied, 156 Wash.2d 1003, 128 P.3d 1239 (2006).

representative."); *In re Pamela Miller*⁵, BIIA Dec., 05
12252 (2006)(holding the correct interpretation of the statute [RCW 51.04.080] "requires the Department to mail the first appealable order to a party's representative, assuming the Department has been notified that the party is represented" noting this interpretation was best because "all doubts as to the meaning of the Act are to resolved in the injury worker.")

The Board has also held that the Department has an "obligation to inquire" or duty to investigate representation. *See In re Betty Brashear*, Dckt. No 96 3341 (August 8, 1997)("In cases in which the Department has received notice of representation, we will not consider a subsequent order to be communicated to the party's last known address unless

⁵ The facts of Mr. Smith case most closely pair the facts in *Pamela* with analysis of RCW 51.04.080 central to the determination that the order was not communicated, it is further noted that no communication was sent from the claimant, rather communication regarding representation came from the claimant's attorney.

with a copy or has made reasonable inquiry on the question of representation.") The Court of Appeals did not make a finding as to whether the Department made a reasonable inquiry, and its ruling suggests the Department does not have a duty to communicate or investigate following a notice of representation by counsel.

Mr. Smith filed a claim on May 27, 2017, which was rejected by Department order by August 11, 2017 with Mr. Smith's counsel filing a notice of representation on July 13, 2017. When was the representation rejected? The Court of Appeals holding would suggest that notice of representation by counsel is *void ab initio*, and no action or communication to the claimant is required by the Department.

Synthesizing the Court of Appeals holding with the present facts, the Department's voice messages to Carson Law Practice on July 17 and July 27 were not to Mr. Smith's counsel because the Department had not

recognized Carson Law Practice as Mr. Smith's representative.

In *Cordova* the petitioner raised equitable estoppel in its petition for review by this Court, and the doctrine is applicable here for the same reasons. The Department made an impactful decision to deny Mr. Smith representation without informing him of its decision, and then by rejecting his claim without communicating that order to his chosen representative.

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with multiple existing decisions, several Board of Industrial Appeals significant decisions, and American jurisprudence as it currently practiced regarding the sufficiency of an Attorney's notice of representation.

This Court should also accept review because the published Court of Appeals decision "involves an issue of substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4).

F. Conclusion

By elevating form over substance, the published decision in *Smith* and *Cordova* conflicts with decisions

from this Court, in addition to presenting an issue of substantial public interest demanding this Court's attention. This Court should accept review. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2), (4).

I certify that this petition is in 14-point Georgia font and contains 3230 words, in compliance with the Rules of Appellate Procedure. RAP 18.7(b).