FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/3/2022 2:26 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101107-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHAWN SMITH,

Petitioner,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

WILLIAM F. HENRY Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 45148 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104-3188 (206) 621-2225

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Smith's arguments do not warrant this Court's review. The Court of Appeals' straightforward analysis of RCW 51.04.080 contains no error and raises no issue of substantial public interest. Smith asserts that the court's opinion conflicts with various appellate decisions applying the doctrine of liberal construction, but this doctrine does not apply when the statute's language is plain on its face. And in any event, unlike Smith's strained reading, the court's interpretation furthers the Legislature's goal to protect injured workers by requiring that they confirm in writing who will receive L&I's orders and payments on their claims. L&I alerted Smith's lawyer that Smith needed to provide written authorization before L&I could send the lawyer its decisions, yet the lawyer took no action until more than a year after L&I rejected Smith's claim. The Court should deny review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Statutory Analysis of RCW 51.04.080 Does Not Conflict with Any Washington Appellate Decision and Presents No Issue of Substantial Public Interest Meriting Review

RCW 51.04.080 is unambiguous: if a claimant wants

L&I to send its notices, orders, and payments to an attorney or
lay representative instead of the claimant, the claimant must
send L&I a written request for L&I to do that. Anything short
of a written request by the claimant does not permit L&I to
communicate its decisions to an attorney in place of the
claimant. Because Smith did not indicate in writing that he
wanted L&I to send its orders to Carson Law, under the statute,
L&I was required to send such orders directly to Smith.

1. RCW 51.04.080's plain language requires that a claimant, not a person purporting to act on the claimant's behalf, ask that L&I send its decisions to someone other than the claimant

Under RCW 51.04.080, L&I must send notices, orders, and payments "directly to [a] claimant" unless the claimant provides written authorization for L&I to send these decisions to the claimant's chosen representative:

On all claims under this title, claimants' written notices, orders, or payments must be forwarded directly to the claimant until such time as there has been entered an order on the claim appealable to the board of industrial insurance appeals. Claimants' written notices, orders, or payments may be forwarded to the claimant in care of a representative before an order has been entered if the claimant sets forth in writing the name and address of the representative to whom the claimant desires this information to be forwarded.

The statute contains no ambiguity. Its first sentence requires that L&I send its notices, orders, and payments "directly to the claimant" until after L&I issues an appealable order in the claim.² This provision ensures that any interlocutory notice, order, or payment will go directly to the claimant and that the claimant will also receive the first L&I order that is appealable to the Board. Because the statute

² Smith does not argue, nor does the record reflect that, before issuing the order at issue in this appeal, L&I had entered "an order on the claim appealable to the board of industrial insurance appeals." *See* RCW 51.04.080. Accordingly, L&I was required to forward all its notices, orders, and payments directly to Smith absent written authorization under the statute's second sentence.

requires that such materials be forwarded "directly to the claimant," under the plain language of its first sentence, L&I cannot send these decisions to any person other than the claimant.

The statute's second sentence, by contrast, creates an exception to this general rule, providing a mechanism for a claimant to ask L&I to send its orders to the claimant's chosen representative. The "claimant" must set forth this request "in writing" and must identify "the representative to whom the claimant desires this information to be forwarded" by name and address. Again, the language is unambiguous: it is only after a claimant has provided written authorization that L&I may send an order to the claimant's representative rather than to the claimant.

Under the statute's plain language, L&I cannot treat a claimant's lawyer as the claimant for purposes of providing written authorization under RCW 51.04.080's second sentence.

Contra Pet. 12. Smith does not dispute the Court of Appeals'

determination that "the legislature possesses the authority to impose a requirement on claimants themselves to set forth in writing the name and address of the claimant's representative, regardless of whether that representative is a lawyer or a nonlawyer[.]" Smith, 512 P.3d at 572; see Pet. 7. And as the court explained, this is what the Legislature did here. *Smith*, 512 P.3d at 572-73. Noting that "[d]ifferent statutory language should not be read to mean the same thing," the court explained that RCW 51.04.080's language "draws a clear distinction between the claimant and the claimant's representative" and that it must therefore "interpret those terms to mean different things." Id. at 572-73 (quoting Ass'n of Wash. Spirits & Wine Distribs. v. Wash. State Liquor Control Bd., 182 Wn.2d 342, 353, 340 P.3d 849 (2015)). Thus, in requiring that a "claimant" provide written authorization to L&I, the statute authorizes only claimants themselves—and not the claimant's representative to set forth in writing the name and address of the claimant's representative. *Id*.

In fact, the Legislature has rejected Smith's contrary interpretation. Smith points to *In re Pamela Miller*, where the Board construed a former version of RCW 51.04.080 to require L&I "to mail the first appealable order to a party's representative," even when the communication regarding the representation came from the claimant's attorney. Pet. 14-15, 15 n.5 (quoting In re Pamela Miller, 05 12252, 2006 WL 481047, at *2 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. Jan. 11, 2006)). But Smith's reliance on *Miller* is misplaced when the Legislature modified the statute following this decision. The statute effective when *Miller* was decided contained no mechanism for claimants to ask L&I to send orders to a representative, and after the Board's decision, the Legislature added RCW 51.04.080's second sentence, setting out specific procedures controlling the manner in which this could occur. See Laws of 2007, ch. 78, § 1. In doing so, the Legislature rejected Smith's argument that L&I must send its orders to a purported representative even when the claimant has not personally made

this request. Instead, as discussed above, the current version of RCW 51.04.080 requires that claimants themselves make such requests in writing.

Smith makes much of the Court of Appeals' statement that the written authorization should be signed by Smith. See Pet. 6-7 (citing Smith, 512 P.3d at 572). But a lack of signature was not the basis for the court's decision. Smith provided no writing, signed or otherwise, indicating that he wanted L&I to send its orders and payments to Carson Law. Nor is the court's statement about a signature in error. When the law requires that a particular individual provide written authorization (as RCW 51.04.080 does here), the writing must contain some verification of that individual's personal approval. It is hardly unusual to look to a signature in such circumstances. Smith's argument about whether his signature was required raises no issue of substantial public interest warranting review.

Finally, the Court of Appeals did not deny Smith's right to legal representation, as Smith repeatedly asserts. *See* Pet. 1-2,

12-13, 16. Rather, in requiring that Smith himself inform L&I that he wanted the agency to forward its orders and payments to Carson Law, the court simply applied RCW 51.04.080's plain language. Smith shows no error in the court's analysis, and this Court should reject his petition for review.

2. The Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with appellate decisions involving the doctrine of liberal construction

The Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with any Washington appellate decision. Smith asserts that the court failed to apply the rule of liberal construction, citing various workers' compensation cases that have applied this doctrine.

Pet. 1-2, 8-9.³ But the liberal construction rule does not apply to unambiguous terms in the Industrial Insurance Act. *See Harris*

³ Citing Street v. Weyerhaeuser Co., 189 Wn.2d 187, 399 P.3d 1156 (2017); Dennis v. Dept. of Lab. & Indus., 109 Wn.2d 467, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987); Sacred Heart Med. Ctr. v. Carrado, 92 Wn.2d 631, 600 P.2d 1015 (1979); Lightle v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 68 Wn.2d 507, 413 P.2d 814 (1966); Wilber v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 61 Wn.2d 439, 378 P.2d 684 (1963); State ex rel. Crabb v. Olinger, 196 Wash. 308, 82 P.2d 865 (1938); Gaines v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus., 1 Wn. App. 547, 463 P.2d 269 (1969).

v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 120 Wn.2d 461, 474, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993); City of Bellevue v. Raum, 171 Wn. App. 124, 155 n.28, 286 P.3d 695 (2012). Because RCW 51.04.080 unambiguously requires that claimants themselves—and not their purported representatives—personally request that orders and payments be forwarded to such representatives, the doctrine of liberal construction is inapplicable and does not assist Smith here.

In any event, Smith's proposed construction of the statute would not aid injured workers. Smith claims that his failure to provide written authorization was a "procedural technicalit[y]" (Pet. 11), but the Legislature imposed this requirement to protect workers. The statute's purpose is to ensure that claimants receive notices, orders, and payments on their claims, and that only a representative of a claimant's choosing can receive such materials. Yet under Smith's interpretation, any person purporting to represent a claimant could unilaterally demand that L&I send its decisions to them. If the person falsely claimed to represent the claimant, this could impede the

claimant from learning about an order and prevent the claimant's timely appeal. Such a person would also receive payments in instances where the injured worker was entitled to time loss compensation. And even in situations not amounting to fraud, as the Court of Appeals noted, the requirement for the claimant's confirmation "encourages claimants themselves to decide whether they pay the costs associated with representation." *Smith*, 512 P.3d at 572.

Smith's reading of the statute would undermine these legislative goals. While the rule of law he seeks would help him in this particular case, it would harm workers who are the victims of fraudulent representations. The liberal construction standard should not be used to strip a statutory protection from injured workers.

The other cases cited by Smith are likewise inapposite. He points to this Court's acceptance of review in *Cordova v*. *City of Seattle* (*see* Pet. 1-2, 5-6), but that case involved what constitutes a valid application for benefits, a different area of

law controlled by different statutes.⁴ He suggests that the Court of Appeals' opinion runs afoul of Shafer v. Department of Labor & Industries, 166 Wn.2d 710, 213 P.3d 591 (2009), asserting this case requires L&I to communicate its orders to any person purporting to represent the worker. See Pet. 10-11. But there, the Court held only that L&I must communicate a closing order to the worker's attending physician when the statute gave the physician the right to appeal the order. Shafer, 166 Wn.2d at 721. That is not the case here, where RCW 51.04.080 specifies that L&I may send orders to a claimant's representative only with the claimant's written permission. Indeed, it is undisputed that L&I communicated the order to both Smith and his attending physician, as required by RCW 51.04.080 and *Shafer*.

⁴ In fact, the Court dismissed the petition for review on the petitioner's motion on August 10, 2022. *Cordova v. City of Seattle*, 199 Wn.2d 1027, 514 P.3d 634 (2022).

Because the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals, Smith's arguments provide no basis for review.

B. The Court of Appeal's Decision Does Not Conflict with the Board's Decisions—Nor Would Such Conflict Warrant Review

The Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with any Board decision, contrary to Smith's assertions. *See* Pet. 13-14. As an initial matter, these decisions are merely persuasive authority and are not binding on the Court of Appeals or this Court. *Birrueta v. Dep't of Lab. & Indus.*, 186 Wn.2d 537, 548, 379 P.3d 120 (2016). A conflict with such administrative decisions does not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b). Insofar as Smith seeks review on this ground, his argument lacks merit.

In any case, nothing in the court's decision conflicts with the Board's "body of published decisions[.]" Pet. 14. Smith argues that the Board has required L&I to communicate its orders to a claimant's attorney whenever it receives a notice of representation. *See* Pet. 14-15 (citing *Miller*, 2006 WL 481047).

But as discussed above, the Legislature amended RCW 51.04.080 after *Miller* was decided, and the current statute requires a claimant's written authorization before L&I may send its orders and payments to the claimant's chosen representative. Because the key statutory language at issue did not exist at the time the Board issued the *Miller* decision, this case is of no help in interpreting the effect of that language, and it provides no support for Smith's arguments.

The other Board cases cited by Smith likewise fail to assist him. *See* Pet. 14 (citing *In re David Herring*, Nos. 57,831 & 57,830, 1981 WL 375943 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. July 30, 1981); *In re Sound Dive Center*, No. 14 12707, 2015 WL 4153111 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. June 8, 2015); *In re Bell & Bell Builders*, No. 90 5119 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. Aug. 3, 1992)⁵). None involve the circumstance present here—where a claimant has failed to provide written authorization under

⁵ A copy of the Board's decision in *Bell & Bell Builders* is available at http://biia.wa.gov/SDPDF/905119.pdf.

RCW 51.04.080. In *Herring*, the claimant provided written notice of the name and address of his attorneys, complying with RCW 51.04.080. 1981 WL 375943, at *1. And in *Sound Dive* and *Bell & Bell Builders*, the issue was communication to an employer's attorney, not a claimant's, so RCW 51.04.080 did not apply at all. Smith's reliance on these cases is misplaced.

Nor did L&I have a duty to inquire about Carson Law's purported representation. Smith points to *In re Betty Brashear*, No. 96 3341, 1997 WL 593881 (Wash. Bd. Indus. Ins. App. Aug. 8, 1997), asserting that L&I must make reasonable inquiries when there are questions about who represents a worker. *See* Pet. 15-16. But in *Brashear*, as in *Herring*, the claimant provided written authorization for L&I to send its orders to her attorney, distinguishing that case from the circumstances here. *See Brashear*, 1997 WL 593881, at *1. Nothing in RCW 51.04.080 or any other statute requires L&I to make inquiries if a law firm claims to be a worker's

representative but provides no written authorization from the claimant for L&I to send its decisions there.

Indeed, while L&I had no legal duty to do so, it made appropriate inquiries here. A claim manager told Carson Law on multiple occasions that the law firm's August 2017 letter failed to comply with RCW 51.04.080, explaining that it must provide a written statement from Smith to comply with the statute. CP 78, 85, 86. Yet despite being informed of what it needed to do, Carson Law failed to take any timely action.

Instead, the law firm waited for more than a year after L&I rejected Smith's claim before attempting to protest this order.

This Court's review is hardly warranted in these circumstances.

C. Smith's Passing Reference to Equitable Estoppel Does Not Warrant Review

Smith suggests the doctrine of equitable estoppel is somehow applicable in this case. *See* Pet. 17. But he did not raise this argument in the superior court or at the Court of Appeals, and this Court should decline to review this unpreserved issue. *See State v. O'Hara*, 167 Wn.2d 91, 97-98,

217 P.3d 756 (2009); RAP 2.5(a). Indeed, Smith fails to cite to the record or provide any meaningful analysis relating to his argument, merely noting that the issue was raised in a different petition for review in a separate, unrelated case. *See* Pet. 17. Arguments unsupported by references to the record or citation to authority need not be considered. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992). The Court should decline to review Smith's untimely argument.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny Smith's petition for review.

This document contains 4,045 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.